
 

 

 

Agenda for Scrutiny Committee 
Monday, 12th January, 2026, 5.00 pm (time 

subject to confirmation, otherwise 6.00pm) 
 
Members of Scrutiny Committee 

Councillors: I Barlow, K Blakey, J Brown, A Bruce, M Chapman, 
B Collins, O Davey, P Fernley, M Goodman (Chair), A Hall, 

M Hall, V Johns, Y Levine, D Mackinder (Vice-Chair) and 
J Whibley  

 

Venue: Council Chamber, Blackdown House, Honiton 

 
Contact: Sarah Jenkins; 

01395 517406 email sarah.jenkins@eastdevon.gov.uk 

(or group number 01395 517546) 

Friday, 19 December 2025 
Re-issued Thursday, 8 January 2026 

 
 
 

1 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 5) 

2 Apologies   

3 Declarations of interest   

 Guidance is available online to Councillors and co-opted members on making 
declarations of interest 
 

4 Public speaking   

 Information on public speaking is available online 
 

5 Matters of urgency   

 Information on matters of urgency is available online 
 

6 Confidential/exempt item(s)   

 To agree any items to be dealt with after the public (including the press) have 
been excluded. There are no items which officers recommend should be dealt 
with in this way. 

 

7 Decisions made by Cabinet called in by Members for scrutiny in accordance with 
the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules   

 There is one item identified, which will be dealt with at agenda item 8: Cabinet 

Decision 3 December 2025: In perpetuity funding for management of Clyst 
Meadows SANG – Minute 118. 

 

East Devon District Council 

Blackdown House 
Border Road 

Heathpark Industrial Estate 

Honiton 
EX14 1EJ 

DX 48808 HONITON 

Tel: 01404 515616 

www.eastdevon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

page 1

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillor-conduct/councillor-reminder-for-declaring-interests/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/public-speaking/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/matters-of-urgency/


8 Call In request: Cabinet decision 3 December 2025 - In perpetuity funding for 

management of Clyst Meadows SANG - Cabinet minute 118  (Pages 6 - 15) 

 
 

 
 
Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, any members of the 

public are now allowed to take photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and 
report on all public meetings (including on social media). No prior notification is needed but 

it would be helpful if you could let the democratic services team know you plan to film or 
record so that any necessary arrangements can be made to provide reasonable facilities for 
you to report on meetings. This permission does not extend to private meetings or parts of 

meetings which are not open to the public. You should take all recording and photography 
equipment with you if a public meeting moves into a session which is not open to the public.  

 
If you are recording the meeting, you are asked to act in a reasonable manner and not 
disrupt the conduct of meetings for example by using intrusive lighting, flash photography or 

asking people to repeat statements for the benefit of the recording. You may not make an 
oral commentary during the meeting. The Chairman has the power to control public 

recording and/or reporting so it does not disrupt the meeting. 
 
Members of the public exercising their right to speak during Public Question Time will be 

recorded. 
 

Decision making and equalities 
 

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic 
Services Team on 01395 517546 

page 2

http://new.eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/committees-and-meetings/decision-making-and-equalities-duties/


EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Minutes of the meeting of Scrutiny Committee held at Council Chamber, 

Blackdown House, Honiton on 2 October 2025 

 

Attendance list at end of document 
The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 6.40 pm 
 

 
21    Minutes of the previous meeting  

 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 4 September 2025 were agreed and signed 

as a true record of the meeting. 
 

22    Declarations of interest  

 
There were no declarations of interest in items on the agenda. 

 
23    Public speaking  

 
There were no public speakers. 

 
24    Matters of urgency  

 

There were no matters of urgency. 
 

25    Confidential/exempt item(s)  

 

There were no confidential or exempt items. 
 

26    Decisions made by Cabinet called in by Members for scrutiny in 

accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules  

 
There were no decisions made by Cabinet called in by Members for scrutiny. 
 

27    Finance Report: Agency and Consultant Expenditure for 2023/2024 

and 2024/2025  

 
The Principal Accountant, Melissa Muir, presented the report which summarised 

directorate oversight of consultant, specialist advice and agency staff spending for 
2023/2024 and 2024/2025. 
 

Expenditure within the Council is carefully managed and monitored to ensure it is 
incurred solely when necessary.  This includes providing coverage for staff absences, 

supplementing capacity when permanent recruitment is not feasible, or acquiring 
additional skills and expertise on a temporary basis. 
 

The employment of agency workers and consultants differs across directorates, 
accounting for approximately 16% of the Council’s total workforce.  Procedures are 

followed to regulate spending and allocate resources where required. 
 

page 3

Agenda Item 1



Scrutiny Committee 2 October 2025 
 

The significant work undertaken within the Housing and Health Directorate during this 
period to reduce the reliance on agency staff and improve the stability of the service 

through the recruitment of permanent staff is of note. 
 
Responses to questions and discussion included the following points: 

• Regarding setting aside a percentage of the budget for a capital project to cover agency 
and consultancy costs, this depends on the individual project and estimates of what 
would be required; 

• It was noted that the use of agency staff and consultants where necessary provided best 
value for the Council; 

• Current in-year monitoring of expenditure had not indicated any specific concerns; 

• Year on year expenditure fluctuates depending on the nature of projects and 
requirements at the time; 

• It was noted that there are still some legacy payments relating to the relocation to 
Blackdown House.  Officers would provide further details following the meeting; 

• The question was raised as to whether local government reorganisation would result in 
greater reliance on agency staff and it was noted that budget setting would be undertaken 
in the usual way; 

• Officers would look into benchmarking against other comparable local authorities in order 
to keep best practice under consideration; 

• Within the Place Directorate, the main driver of the expenditure on consultants and 
agency staff was the capital projects such as repairs to Exmouth sea wall. 

 

The Chair thanked the Principal Accountant and the Finance Manager for the report and 
for attending the meeting. 

 
It was agreed to note the report. 
 

28    Work programme 2025 - 26  

 

The work programme was discussed and the following points were noted: 
• Councillors were not putting forward items for the work programme. This could be 

construed that Councillors were content that matters did not require scrutiny; 

• Items for the work programme ideally required a six month lead time; 

• The number of scheduled meetings was questioned as to whether there were too many 
and it was noted that most Scrutiny Committees would expect to hold four meetings per 
year; 

• There was a need to decide how to engage Portfolio Holder reporting to the Committee; 

• There was frustration when meetings were cancelled at very short notice with little or no 
explanation; 

 
The following changes were agreed to the work programme: 

• To cancel the meeting scheduled for 6 November due to there being no items for the 
agenda; 

• To move the UKSPF evaluation report from the 5 February to 5 March 2026; 

• To retain the meeting scheduled for 4 December, but to cancel the meeting should no 
items of business come forward in sufficient time. 

 
With the above changes, the work programme was agreed. 

 
 

 

Attendance List 

Councillors present: 
I Barlow 

page 4



Scrutiny Committee 2 October 2025 
 

K Blakey 
J Brown 

B Collins 
M Goodman (Chair) 
A Hall 

M Hall 
V Johns 

Y Levine 
D Mackinder (Vice-Chair) 
 

Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting) 
C Brown 

R Collins 
J O'Leary 
 

Officers in attendance: 
Sarah Jenkins, Democratic Services Officer 

Melissa Muir, Principal Accountant 
John Symes, Finance Manager 
Melanie Wellman, Director of Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

Anita Williams, Principal Solicitor (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 
 

Councillor apologies: 
M Chapman 
O Davey 

M Hartnell 
J Whibley 

 
 
 

 
 

Chair   Date:  

 

page 5



Report to: Scrutiny Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 8 January 2026 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Call In request -  Cabinet Decision 3 December 2025:  In perpetuity funding for Management 
of Clyst Meadows SANG  Minute 118 

Report summary: 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, a valid call-in request had been received in respect 

of a Cabinet decision taken on 3 December 2025:  In perpetuity funding for Management of Clyst 
Meadows SANG.  

On 3 December 2025 it was Resolved that Cabinet: 

1. Approves the creation of an investment fund of £1.1m, funded from CIL, to secure the in -
perpetuity funding for the management of Clyst Meadows. 

2. Delegates authority to the Assistant Director Planning Strategy and Development 
Management, Finance Director, Place Director and Director Governance, in consultation 
with the relevant Portfolio Holders, to set up and arrange for the management of this fund. 

A call-in request was received on 9 December 2025, signed by five councillors, including the Chair 
of the Scrutiny Committee, Councillor Mike Goodman and Councillors Ian Barlow, Colin Brown, 

Brian Bailey and Aurora Bailey.  

The full Cabinet report from 3 December 2025 and minutes are attached at Appendix A.  

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

1. To review the decision taken by Cabinet on 3 December 2025 on the following grounds: 

• The Cabinet debate was split, with two members voting for and two against the proposal, and 

the Chair using a casting vote to approve the decision. 

• Concerns were raised that spending this money does not represent good value for East Devon 

District Council. 

• The item was initially considered by the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) group, where a 

request for £2m was rejected. The revised request of £1.1m is still considered an expensive 

way to use capital sums to finance a park. 

• There are other more urgent infrastructure projects that could benefit from this funding. 

2. To determine whether to refer the decision back to Cabinet for reconsideration or  

3. To take no further action.  

 

page 6

Agenda Item 8



Reason for recommendation: 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution.  

 

Officer: Andrew Melhuish (Democratic Service Manager) – andrew.melhuish@eastdevon.gov.uk 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☒ Environment – Nature & Climate  

☐ Environment – Operational 

☐ Council, Corporate Co-ordination & External Engagement 

☐ Communications and Democracy 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☐ Finance  

☒ Place, Infrastructure & Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

☐ Culture, Leisure, Sport and Tourism 

 

 
 

Report in full 

See the full Cabinet report at Appendix A.  

 

Financial implications: 

 Refer to Cabinet report on 3 December 2025. 

Legal implications: 

 The call-in procedures may be exercised by the Scrutiny Committee.  A call-in is where the 

Scrutiny Committee reviews a decision made by the Cabinet before the decision is implemented.  
See Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 15.1 – 15.3 Council Constitution.   

 

page 7



Report to: Cabinet 

 

Date of Meeting 3 December 2025 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release n/a 

 

In Perpetuity Funding for Management of Clyst Meadows SANG  

Report summary: 

This paper provides Cabinet with an update on the management funding for Clyst Meadows 
Countryside Park (10Ha Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG)) at Station Road, 

Broadclyst which sits within the wider Clyst Valley Regional Park. The paper also provides 
estimated costs for future SANG delivery to mitigate the impact of residential allocations in the 
emerging Local Plan.  

The delivery of Clyst Meadows will ensure that the planning authority is able to meet our statutory 
duty to preserve the integrity of nearby internationally designated habitat sites.  This project also 

assists in delivery of Clyst Valley Regional Park objectives. Clyst Meadows is adjacent to 
Cranbrook, and close to Broadclyst and Mosshayne/Tithebarn, and will facilitate the delivery of the 
Station Road-Mosshayne strategic cycle link. 

The total budget for delivery of the site works at Clyst Meadows is £1.63M (excluding land 
purchase and management costs). This is funded through CIL contributions, s106 agreements and 

£200k from the capital programme. A further £200k of UK SPF funding is also allocated for 
delivery of the shared cycle path.  

In order to meet in perpetuity (minimum 80 years) management costs Cabinet approved (1st May 

2024) an estimated further £2M, subject to CIL Member Working Party’s Decision, to fund an 
Endowment to provide an annual return to fund maintenance and capital replacement costs for 80 
years.  

Subsequently Strategic Planning Committee (19th May 2025), following CIL Member Working 
Party’s advice, approved the funding for site works, but based on the estimated £2M investment 

requirement on other CIL funded infrastructure projects, supported the following recommendation: 

4. That Members advise Cabinet that they do not agree to funding an endowment to cover the 
maintenance costs of the SANG at Station Road, Broadclyst as per Cabinet’s resolution of the 1st 

May 2024 and recommend that Cabinet agree that these costs be funded through an annual 
contribution of £40k from CIL for the first 3 years after which these should be reviewed. 

A draft report to Cabinet was prepared early this year, and further work was requested due to 
concerns about the financial risk to the Council of delaying in -perpetuity funding arrangements 
until 2028. This approach secures short-term management funding, but in the longer term an 

annual draw down creates risks for the Council. Should CIL funding be insufficient or on -site 
capital replacement costs exceed the value of the sinking fund management and site works would 

need to be funded from the Council’s revenue and/or capital funds. 

Subsequent work has been undertaken to more accurately quantify the value of the investment 
required to generate sufficient funds to manage Clyst Meadows in perpetuity. Advice from an 

Independent Financial Advisor and CCLA Investment Management indicate that an appropriate 
low-risk investment to secure in-perpetuity funding would be £1.1M (to be funded from CIL). 

page 8



In addition to the financial risks outlined above the timeline approved by Strategic Planning 
Committee will intersect with Local Government Re-Organisation and require the newly created 

authority to receive a report on the in-perpetuity funding of Clyst Meadows early in 2028 - when 
the new authority will focuse on reorganisation and a significant number of other priorities. It is 

therefore considered that either an earlier decision to set up the in -perpetuity investment, or an 
extended timeline for an interim annual payment, would minimise the risk to the Council. 

This report therefore asks Cabinet to review Strategic Planning Committee’s recommendation to 

fund management costs at Clyst Meadows through an annual contribution of £40k from CIL for 3 
years, and delegate authority to officers to set up and arrange for the management of a £1.1m 

investment fund, funded from CIL, to secure the in perpetuity funding for the management of Clyst 
Meadows. 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That Cabinet:  

1. Approves the creation of an investment fund of £1.1m, funded from CIL, to secure the in 

perpetuity funding for the management of Clyst Meadows, and  

 

2. Delegates authority to the Assistant Director Planning Strategy and Development 

Management, Finance Director, Place Director and Director Governance, in consultation 

with the relevant Portfolio Holders, to set up and arrange for the management of this fund. 

Reason for recommendation: 

East Devon District Council, as the competent authority, have a legal responsibility to ensure that 
SANG are provided and managed in-perpetuity as part of the Mitigation Strategy for the SE Devon 

Internationally Protected Habitats. The delivery and in-perpetuity management of Clyst Meadows 
SANG is one of the mitigation measures identified through the Habitat Regulations Assessment 
process, ensuring East Devon meets our legislative requirements when permitting housing 

development through the Local Plan.  

 

Officer: Paul Osborne, Green Infrastructure Project Manager  
Email: Paul.Osborne@eastdevon.gov.uk, T: 07745 667146  

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Assets and Economy  

☐ Communications and Democracy 

☐ Council, Corporate and External Engagement 

☐ Culture, Leisure, Sport and Tourism 

☒ Environment - Nature and Climate 

☐ Environment - Operational 

☐ Finance  

☒ Place, Infrastructure and Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

 
page 9

mailto:Paul.Osborne@eastdevon.gov.uk


Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Medium Risk; EDDC, as the competent authority, are required to ensure mitigation is 

provided as set out in the SE Devon Protected Site Mitigation Strategy – including the 
management of SANG ‘in perpetuity’. Failure to deliver SANG to mitigate the impact of residential 

development on the SE Devon Internationally Protected sites may impact on housing delivery in 
East Devon and across the wider Habitat Regulations Partnership. Funding for management is 
proposed through an annual draw down from CIL. Should CIL returns be insufficient to meet 

management costs (including capital replacement) any deficit will need to be met from the 
authority’s other budgets. An investment is proposed to fund SANG management to reduce 

EDDC’s financial risk - requiring higher upfront cost and an impact on other CIL expenditure 
(£1.1M). 

Links to background information Cabinet 1st May 2024 (item 194) - Agenda for Cabinet on 

Wednesday, 1st May, 2024, 6.00 pm - East Devon; Cabinet Strategic Planning Committee 
Minutes – 19th May 2025 (item 265) - Agenda for Strategic Planning Committee on Monday, 19th May, 

2025, 10.00 am - East Devon; South East Devon European Site Mitigation Strategy - Liley et al. - 
2014 - South-east Devon European Site Mitigation Strategy.pdf  

Link to Council Plan 

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ A supported and engaged community  

☒ Carbon neutrality and ecological recovery 

☐ Resilient economy that supports local business 

☐ Financially secure and improving quality of services 

 

 

Report in full 

Background 

1.1 Clyst Meadows Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space (SANG) will deliver a 10Ha 
Country Park as part of the SE Devon European Site Mitigation Strategy to mitigate the 

impact of residential development at Cranbrook and the wider West End area on the Exe 
Estuary and the East Devon Pebblebed Heaths Special Protection Areas (SPA's). This 
project also assists in delivery of Clyst Valley Regional Park objectives. Clyst Meadows is 

adjacent to Cranbrook, and close to Broadclyst and Mosshayne/Tithebarn, and will facilitate 
the delivery of the Station Road-Mosshayne strategic cycle link.  

 
1.2 East Devon District Council, as a Competent Authority, is legally required to ensure that the 

impact of residential development on the SE Devon European Wildlife Sites is mitigated. 

SANG are one of the required mitigation measures and are delivered through a number of 
approaches. It is delivered directly by Developers on larger development sites (such as 

Cranbrook), and by the relevant local authorities for strategic sites (funded through CIL 
contributions from all residential development). The legal requirement for delivery of SANG at 
Clyst Meadows sits with EDDC through the s106 agreements for Cranbrook Phase 1 (which 

identified a requirement for 13.97Ha SANG to be delivered in the Appropriate Assessment for 
18/1237/MRES).  

 
1.3 SANG must meet Natural England requirements in relation to their scale, character and 

design, delivery in advance of the developments they are mitigating, and be maintained in 

perpetuity (80-100 years). 
 

1.4 Advice from Natural England is that a legal agreement to secure the management of the 
SANG by East Devon District Council is not required. The Council is a Competent Authority 
and is legally obliged to secure the mitigation set out in the Habitat Assessment to the Local 

page 10

https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=2202&Ver=4
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=2202&Ver=4
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=2602&Ver=4
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=2602&Ver=4
https://www.footprint-ecology.co.uk/reports/Liley%20et%20al.%20-%202014%20-%20South-east%20Devon%20European%20Site%20Mitigation%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.footprint-ecology.co.uk/reports/Liley%20et%20al.%20-%202014%20-%20South-east%20Devon%20European%20Site%20Mitigation%20Strategy.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/council-business/our-plans/council-plan/


Plan and meet the requirements of s106 agreements for Cranbrook Phase 1. It is proposed 
to amend the planning conditions for Clyst Meadows (24/2049/MFUL) to state that the SANG 

will be managed for 80 years in accordance with the SANG Management Plan. 
 

1.5 If SANG are not delivered, or are not managed ‘in -perpetuity’ Natural England could block 
the development of further housing within the district (in the same way that development in 
the River Parrett catchment was blocked until nutrient neutrality issues were resolved), and 

the Council would be at risk of legal challenge from 3rd parties for failing to meet our 
mitigation requirements (as set out in the SE Devon European Wildlife Sites Mitigation 

Strategy). 
 

1.6 May 1st 2024 Cabinet resolved that Clyst Meadows would be managed by East Devon’s 

Countryside Team and approved, subject to CIL Member Working Party (MWP) decision re 
CIL funding, the budget of £4.114M, which was broken down as follows: 

 
Land acquisition       £485,000 
Site Works (including fees, contingency and inflation) £1,629,000   

Management (Endowment)      £2,000,000 

Additional funding of £200k from the UK Shared Prosperity Fund will fund the delivery of the 

cycle path through Clyst Meadows – and the total budget for site works is therefore £1.829M 

 
1.7 Funding for purchase and establishment of Clyst Meadows is from a combination of CIL, 

s106 agreements and the capital programme (with potential to be recouped from future BNG 
receipts) as follows: 

 
S106  £530,358 
Capital   £200,000 

CIL  £1,383,642*  
 

1.8 On 19th May 2025 Strategic Planning Committee approved CIL Member Working Party’s 
recommendation (from 27th February 2025) for the expenditure of CIL for the site works (* 
£1.38M), but rejected the proposed £2M endowment (subject to expert financial advice) in 

favour of an annual sum of £40k from CIL to reduce the short-term impact to other CIL 
expenditure. The working party and Strategic Planning Committee were concerned that the 

upfront cost of £2 million would take vital funding away from infrastructure projects that are 
needed now and could not otherwise be funded. At the time of the Strategic Planning 
Committee meeting on 19th May there was just over £12M held in the CIL pot but with bids 

totalling over £17M difficult decisions had to be made over which projects to support and 
ultimately some worthy projects could not be supported. The position would have been 

significantly more difficult had the £2million endowment also been agreed and so this was 
not prioritised.  
 

1.9 In April 2025 Cabinet supported the tender for and appointment of contractors to deliver the 
required site works, and delegated authority to the Assistant Director – Countryside & Leisure 

and/or the Assistant Director Place, Assets and Commercialisation, in consultation with 
Director of Place, to authorise entering into contract with the selected contractor. Works are 
now progressing on site with estimated completion and opening in Spring 2026. 

 
1.10 In the short term these risks are low (as capital replacement requirements are unlikely, 

unless extreme weather conditions or flooding caused extensive damage, as the site is 
currently under construction). Officers were requested to undertake further work to review the 
investment required to generate sufficient funding for in -perpetuity management. This is 

summarised in section 2 of this report below. 
 

page 11



1.11 In addition to the financial risks outlined above the timeline approved by Strategic Planning 
Committee will intersect with Local Government Re-Organisation and require the newly 

created authority to receive a report on the in-perpetuity funding of Clyst Meadows early in 
2028 - when the new authority will focuse on reorganisation and a significant number of other 

priorities.  
 

1.12 It is also noted that postponing a decision on in -perpetuity funding for Clyst Meadows is likely 

to mean that the CIL funding is required alongside funding for further Strategic SANG to meet 
the Council’s future Habitat Regulations mitigation requirements.  

 

2.  Future Management Funding for Clyst Meadows Country Park 

2.1 The Strategic Planning Committee decision to allocated £40k per annum from CIL (for 3 

years) for management of Clyst Meadows is based on an assessment of the annual 
maintenance costs which are considered to be in the range of £15,000-£30,000 per annum 

(excluding inflation and including staff/management costs, and an allowance for contingency 
and risk), plus the capital replacement programme.  

2.2 The capital replacement programme costs (for maintenance/replacement of paths, car park 

fencing, boardwalks, bridges and site furniture) were identified as follows for each period 
(excluding inflation): 

- 5 years  £18,020 
- 10 years £12,000  
- 15 years £26,600  

- 25 years £128,950 

2.3 The total cost of capital replacement costs, excluding inflation, is in the order of £930,000 – 

which averages out at an additional c£12,000 per annum. This brings the total maintenance 
costs to c£40,000 per annum. 

2.4 The total cost of this approach (over 80 years) is estimated to be up to £3.33M (annual 

maintenance costs at £30k/pa, totalling £2.4M, plus total capital replacement costs of £930k 
(excluding inflation)), compared to the estimated endowment costs of c£2M. 

 
2.5 Officers have sought further advice from Global City Futures, an Independent Financial 

Adviser and CCLA Investment Management to review and model the investment required to 

generate sufficient returns to fund the management of Clyst Meadows and capital 
replacement works for 80 years. Options considered include a privately managed investment 

fund and investment in CCLA Local Authority Property Fund. Officers also undertook a due 
diligence review to consider alternative management options (such as transfer to the Land 
Trust or English Estates) – these options would be more expensive than the proposed 

approach due to the additional management fees incurred by 3 rd party organisations.  
 

2.6 Based on average inflation of 3% and an average investment return  (gross) of 6.5% a sum of 
£1M is required. 
 

2.7 As with any investment there is a risk the investment will not perform as expected and fail to 
generate sufficient returns for periods during the 80-year management period. Therefore it is 

recommended that a further £100,000 is saved in a ring-fenced high-interest account to 
provide a back-up fund for annual management costs should the investment perform poorly 
in any period or if there are exceptional capital replacement costs (e.g. after a flood event) – 

minimising the risk of additional funding being required at a later date.  
 

2.8 The total cost of an investment to fund the management of Clyst Meadows in perpetuity is 
therefore estimated at £1.1M. (Note that this investment is based on 2025 estimates of 
financial performance and are likely to vary depending on market performance.)  

page 12



 

3  Proposed Options 

 
3.1 In the context of the updated investment cost, financial risks and LGR timeline set out above, 

officers have considered the following 3 options. 

Option 1  

Proceed with Strategic Planning Committee’s recommendation to fund management of Clyst 

Meadows through an annual contribution of £40k from CIL for the first 3 years (until 2028) 

and prepare a further report, at such a time as to ensure continuity of management from 

2028 to consider future, in-perpetuity, funding for the management of Clyst Meadows.  

Option 2  

Extend Strategic Planning Committee’s recommendation to fund management of Clyst 

Meadows through an annual contribution of £40k from CIL, including an annual increase in 

line with inflation, for 5 years (until after the formation of the new authority) and to prepare a 

further report at such a time as to ensure continuity of management from 2030 to consider 

future, in-perpetuity, funding for the management of Clyst Meadows.  

Option 3  

Review Strategic Planning Committee’s recommendation and create an investment fund of 

£1.1m, funded from CIL, to secure the in-perpetuity funding for the management of Clyst 

from 2026. 

 
3.2 Having considered the risks and timescale, and in the context of reduced investment costs, 

Officers recommend that an earlier decision to set up the in-perpetuity investment would 
minimise the financial risk to the Council, secure the long-term management of the SANG 
and reduce future pressure on CIL for Habitat Regulations mitigation. 

 
3.3 This report therefore asks Cabinet to review Strategic Planning Committee’s 

recommendation to fund management costs at Clyst Meadows through an annual 
contribution of £40k from CIL for 3 years and approve creation of an investment fund of 
£1.1m, funded from CIL, to secure the in-perpetuity funding for the management of Clyst 

Meadows. 

4.  Future Strategic SANG delivery and maintenance costs 

4.1 Members are also asked to note that the potential future costs of delivery and management 
for Strategic SANG across the Habitat Regulations Partnership are likely to be significant and 
require additional CIL funding.  

4.2 Officers are preparing a Strategic SANG Delivery Strategy (2025-2040) which will set out the 
SANG required to mitigate the impact of consented residential development and further 

housing identified in the current and emerging Local Plans on the Exe Estuary and the East 
Devon Pebblebed Heaths Special Protection Areas (SPA's).  

4.3 Currently 8.6% of East Devon’s CIL is top sliced to fund Habitat Regulations Infrastructure. 

Future costs are estimated to be in the order of £400,000 per annum – which will equate to 
approximately 20% of forecast CIL receipts over the next 5 years. (Exeter City Council and 

Teignbridge District Council will also need to proportionately contribute to the Strategic 
SANG Delivery Strategy.)   A future report will be brought to Members to present the 
Strategic SANG Delivery Strategy and estimated costs. 

 

 

page 13



Financial implications: 

The financial details are contained within the report. There is liability for the Council to provide 
funding in perpetuity to maintain the SANG to an appropriate standard which is estimated at a cost 
of £40k per annum (excluding inflation). This liability should not be a direct call on the Council’s 

finances but needs to be met from CIL, in whatever form that takes either an annual payment or 
through an investment. Appropriate due diligence has been undertaken to ensure the proposed 

investment will meet the funding requirements for the management of Clyst Meadows – with a low 
financial risk to the Council (albeit that there remains a financial risk from all investments). Delays 
to setting up the investment may increase the initial funding required (depending upon inflation, 

fees and investment performance). 

 

Legal implications: 

The Council is a Competent Authority, and is legally obliged to secure the mitigation set out in the 
Habitat Assessment to the Local Plan and meet the requirements of s106 agreements for 
Cranbrook Phase 1.  

 
If Clyst Meadows SANG is not managed in-perpetuity in, accordance with the SANG Management 

Plan, we would be in breach of our planning consent and Cranbrook Phase 1 s106. We would also 
risk Natural England blocking the development of further housing within the district and the 
potential for legal challenge from Natural England or 3rd parties for failing to meet our mitigation 

requirements (as set out in the SE Devon European Wildlife Sites Mitigation Strategy). 

 

ELT Recommendations 

ELT recommends that Members select Option 3 as this represents the lowest financial risk to the 
authority, and overall is the lowest cost option, and provides certainty in relation to the in -

perpetuity management of Clyst Meadows SANG – ensuring the Council meets the Habitat 
Regulations requirements of the Local Plan and s106 agreements. In addition, this option removes 

concerns about the requirement for a decision on this issue in early 2028 when the newly created 
authority will focuse on reorganisation and a significant number of other priorities. 

 

page 14



EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held at Council Chamber, 

Blackdown House, Honiton on 3 December 2025 

 

118    In Perpetuity Funding for Management of Clyst Meadows SANG  

 

Cabinet received an update on the management funding for Clyst Meadows 
Countryside Park (10Ha Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG)), at 
Station Road, Broadclyst which sat within the wider Clyst Valley Regional Park. 

Estimated costs for future SANG delivery to mitigate the impact of residential 
allocations in the emerging Local Plan were provided. The delivery of Clyst Meadows 

would ensure that the planning authority was able to meet its statutory duty to 
preserve the integrity of nearby internationally designated habitat sites.  
 

The total budget for delivery of the site works at Clyst Meadows was £1.63M 
(excluding land purchase and management costs). This was funded through CIL 

contributions, s106 agreements and £200k from the capital programme. A further 
£200k of UK SPF funding was also allocated for delivery of the shared cycle path.  
 

Advice from an Independent Financial Advisor and CCLA Investment Management 
indicated that an appropriate low-risk investment to secure in-perpetuity funding 

would be £1.1M (to be funded from CIL).  
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet:  

1. Approves the creation of an investment fund of £1.1m, funded from CIL, to 
secure the in-perpetuity funding for the management of Clyst Meadows. 

 
2. Delegates authority to the Assistant Director Planning Strategy and 

Development Management, Finance Director, Place Director and Director 

Governance, in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holders, to set up and 
arrange for the management of this fund.  

 
REASON: 
The Council as the competent authority, had a legal responsibility to ensure that 

SANG was provided and managed in-perpetuity as part of the Mitigation Strategy for 
the SE Devon Internationally Protected Habitats. The delivery and in -perpetuity 

management of Clyst Meadows SANG was one of the mitigation measures identified 
through the Habitat Regulations Assessment process, ensuring the Council met its 
legislative requirements when permitting housing development through the Local 

Plan. 
 

page 15


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the previous meeting
	8 Call In request: Cabinet decision 3 December 2025 - In perpetuity funding for management of Clyst Meadows SANG - Cabinet minute 118
	080126 APPENDIX A Clyst Meadows Management
	080126 Minute 118 Cabinet 3 December 2025


